#### **RECEIVED**

10-31-2018

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP1515-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

MICHAEL K. LORENTZ,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE PIERCE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HON. JOSEPH D. BOLES PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BRIAN FINDLEY State Bar No 1023299

Nelson Defense Group 811 N. 1<sup>st</sup> Street, Ste. 101 Hudson, WI 54016 (715) 386-2694 <u>brian@nelsondefensegroup.com</u>

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

####

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Once the defendant stipulated to the applicability of a "Domestic Abuse" injunction and three "Child Abuse" injunctions, was it error to publish the unredacted injunctions to the jury?

The trial court ruled that the words "Domestic Abuse" and "Child Abuse" were inadmissible but published the injunctions, labeled "Injunction-Domestic Abuse" and "Injunction-Child Abuse" to the jury over the defendant's objection.

Were Wis. Stats. §§ 813.12 and 813.122 unconstitutional as applied where the injunctions on which Mr. Lorentz was convicted failed to give him notice of what conduct was prohibited?

The court denied a pretrial motion challenging the constitutionality of the statutes as applied.

3. Was the evidence sufficient to prove that Mr. Lorentz failed to "avoid the residence" of his former wife where he drove on a public road separated from the house by fields on both sides of a long driveway?

The jury found him guilty and the court denied a motion for a directed verdict.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT/PUBLICATION

This case is a one-judge appeal, but the issues presented raise recurring issues for which there has been no case published. Therefore it is appropriate to publish.

#### **FACTS**

A. The defendant's stipulation to the status/existence of the injunctions.

The basic facts are not disputed. The State charged Mr. Lorentz with one count of knowingly violating a domestic abuse injunction, Wis. Stats. §§ 813.12(4) & (8) and threee counts of knowingly violating a child abuse injunction, violations of Wis. Stats. §§813.122 (5) & (11). Prior to trial, Mr. Lorentz filed a Motion in Limine in which he stipulated to his status as someone bound by the terms listed in the injunctions. (15:3) At the same time he moved to prohibit any reference to "domestic abuse" or "child abuse." The Motion stated:

As to each count, the Defense hereby offers to stipulate to the existence of the underlying injunctions. This court must bind the State to this offer to stipulate, *McAllister*, 153 Wis. 2d at 529; *State v. Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 644, 571 N.W.2d 662 (1997) ("The status element is completely dependent on some judgment rendered wholly independently of the concrete events of later criminal behavior charged against the

defendant...Accordingly, there is no probative value to this evidence other than to prove the defendant's status. Evidence of the status element is wholly independent of the concreate events that make up the gravamen of the offense.

(15: 3-4). When arguing the issue to the court before trial, defense counsel said that the "defense agrees there is an injunction that applies to S[.]L[.] and three of the children who were present on the premises." (53:75) Defense counsel specifically objected to the injunctions themselves going into evidence and "certainly move they not be given to the jury during deliberations." (53:77) The State argued that the injunctions were admissible because "it is important that the jury doesn't wonder, an injunction, why is that important to this case?" (53:8).

The injunctions themselves were labled, "Injunction-Domestic Abuse" and "Injunction-Child Abuse." Following the box indicating that there is a "substantial risk" that the respondent may commit 1st degree intentional homicide 1st, 2nd, or 3rd degree sexual assault pursuant to Wis. Stat. §940 or 1st or 2nd degree sexual assault under Wis. Stat. §948, the domestic abuse injunction included a handwritten note. That note said, "However there are, by stipulation, no specific factual findings." (25:2). The child abuse injunctions contained similar addenda. (26:2; 27:2; 28:2)

The court said it would admit the injunctions, but it agreed with the claim that the words "domestic abuse" and "child abuse" were not proper testimony. According to the court, "I don't think it's appropriate even though those injunctions are going to be evidence, I don't believe it's appropriate either in the arguments or actually in the instructions either to actually refer to them as domestic abuse injunctions or child abuse injunctions." (53:79)

The defense objected when the State moved to publish the injunctions to the jury during the trial. (53:128) The court denied the objection saying, "I think they are able to publish it. If you want to have a curative instruction, I would be willing to give it." (53:128) The defense argued that it did not make sense to prohibit use of the words "domestic abuse" and "child abuse" but to then have the jury read injunctions labeled "Domestic Abuse" and "Child Abuse." The court responded, "My rationale is these are the injunctions that are in effect and binding the parties. That's what they look like. I don't think that there is any unfair prejudice to the Defendant here." (53:129) The court then published the domestic abuse injunction and the three child abuse injunctions to the jury who read them in the jury box.

The court instructed the jury that, "These injunctions have some titles that contain language that you are not to consider...I want you to disregard any of the labels on the top

of these documents that might label them as a certain type of injunction. You cannot use them as evidence." (53:130)

During jury deliberations, the jury requested to see the injunctions again. They also requested a legal definition of "a residence versus parcel." (53:205) The court said, "...what I would kind of like to do is just send back the exhibits but eliminate all irrelevant parts, but it's only the one line in there about avoiding the residence." (53:215). The court did not send the injunctions back. Instead it instructed them:

The parties stipulated that the injunctions, Exhibits 6, 7, 8, and 9 were issued by the Court and were in effect at the time of the alleged crimes. The only portion of these injunctions that are relevant is paragraph two of these court orders. Paragraph two reads, paragraph two in each injunction reads, quote, the Court orders the respondent to avoid the Petitioner's residence." (53:213; emphasis added)

#### B. Claim of unconstitutional vagueness.

Prior to trial, Mr. Lorentz filed a motion to dismiss arguing that the statute was unconstitutionally vague as applied to him. (12:1-8) Specifically, he claimed that he did not have adequate notice that "avoid the residence" meant that he could not drive on a public road that is separated from his former wife's home by a corn field. (12:4) The trial court denied the motion.

#### C. The requirement to "avoid the residence."

In pertinent part, the domestic abuse injunction required that Mr. Lorentz "avoid the petitioner's residence and/or any location temporarily occupied by the petitioner." (25:2) The child abuse injunctions required him to "avoid the child's residence and/or any location temporarily occupied by the child." (26:2; 27:2; 28:2) Apart from Mr. Lorentz's knowledge, the facts underlying the dispute regarding whether Mr. Lorentz avoided the residence are themselves not disputed.

On May 17, 2014, Mr. Lorentz, the defendant, drove his pickup on the public highway, 390<sup>th</sup> St., onto which S.L.'s and the children's driveway to their house, barn and garage empties. Mr. Lorentz drove by slowly only once and did not stop, turn into the driveway, honk, wave or do anything otherwise unusual. The driveway has been described as being as long as 2/10's of a mile away.<sup>1</sup> (53:21, 109; *see* Appendix at 116 and 117) S.L.'s son, J.L., testified that between the house and the road is a field owned by someone else that is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> S.L.'s son testified that he was in front of the house and "like 300, 200 feet" away from his father's truck when it drove by. He was not close enough to see without his glasses if his father waved. (53:109, 112)

usually planted in corn or beans. (53:113) After his father drove by, his mother dialed the police.

Deputy Langer, who responded to the call and then talked with Mr. Lorentz on the telephone, testified that there is a "long gravel driveway which leads to a house and some outbuildings." (53:136) It has "fairly open fields on both sides." (53:136) Deputy Langer tesified that Mr. Lorentz said that he knew about the restraining orders and wanted to see his children. However, Mr. Lorentz "maintained throughout [their] entire conversation" that "he did not believe he was violating" the injunctions "because he was on a public roadway." (53:138, 147) There was no evidence by any witness to the contrary.

Following the presentation of the State's case, the defense moved for a directed verdict. The State said that there was no dispute that "Yes, Mr. Lorentz drove on the roadway, 390th Avenue. Yes, the roadway passes by the property which the residence is situated on. Yes, this is a rural area." (53:165). The State claimed that this evidence established that Mr. Lorentz knowingly violated the injunctions. However, the State also conceded that: "Is the State at somewhat of a disadvantage because of how far the residence was situated on the property? Certainly." (53:166)

#### ARGUMENT

I. Once Mr. Lorentz stipulated to the injunctions, the court erred when it published unredacted copies to the jury as they were both prejudicial and irrelevant.

It was error to publish to the jury the unredacted domestic abuse injunction and the child abuse injunctions once Mr. Lorentz stipulated to them. The law says that once a defendant admits to a status element, the State not only cannot admit that evidence; it must accept a stipulation to that status element. In this case, it was error to publish the injunctions to jury because their existence is a status element and their very titles of "Injunction-Domestic Abuse" and "Injunction-Child Abuse" were far more prejudicial than probative. As the court itself found, "the only relevant portion of the injunctions" is the requirement that Mr. Lorentz "avoid the residence" of his former wife and their three sons. (53:214) It was error to admit the entire injunctions when as the lower court itself noted--only one line of them was relevant and much of them was prejudicial. The court could have admitted the requirement that Lorentz "avoid the residence" without also informing the jury that the court had granted temporary restraining orders for domestic abuse and child abuse.

In this case the trial court misused its discretion because it applied the wrong law and did not apply the facts to reach a reasonable determination. Whether to admit evidence is a discretionary act by the the trial court. "A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if it makes an error of law or neglects to base its decision upon facts in the record." King v. King, 224 Wis. 2d 235, ¶23, 590 N.W.2d 480 (1999); State v. Rave, 2005 WI 68, ¶16, 49, 281 Wis. 2d 339, 697 N.W.2d 407 (Circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it did not grant a mistrial). A discretionary decision "must be the product of a rational mental process by which the facts of the record and the law relied upon are stated and are considered together for the purpose of achieving a reasoned and reasonable determination." Id. Whether the the court has applied the wrong law is an issue that this court reviews de novo. Id.

Wisconsin Stat. §813.12(8) makes it a misdemeanor to "knowingly violate[] a temporary restraining order or injunction...." Wisconsin Stat. §813.122(11) similarly makes it a crime to "knowingly violate[]" a temporary child abuse restraining order or injunction. These two statutes require the State to prove that (1) an injunction existed, (2) Mr. Lorentz violated the injunction, (3) Mr. Lorentz knew that an injunction had been issued, and (4) he *knew* that he violated

the injunction. Wis. Stat. §§ 813.12(8)(a), 813.122(11); see also Wis. JI-Criminal 2040.<sup>2</sup>

Element (1) listed above, whether an injunction existed, is a status element. Whether it exists depends "completely rendered on some judgment wholly independently of the concrete events or later criminal behavior charged against [the defendant]." State v. Alexander, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 571 N.W.2d 662 (1997), quoting Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 190 (1997). In *Old Chief* the defendants' stipulations meant essentially "I agree that I have one prior conviction" and "I agree that I have two prior convictions." "In other words," said the Wisconsin Supreme Court, "the defendants agreed to a status element of the crimes." State v. Veach, 2002 WI 110, ¶128, 255 Wis. 2d 390, 255 Wis. 2d 390, 648 N.W.2d 447.

According to the United States Supreme Court in *Old*Chief, "This recognition that the prosecution with its burden of persuasion needs evidentiary depth to tell a continuous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Lorentz acknowledges that the jury instruction sets forth three elements, but submits that the offense can more clearly be understood when broken apart into four elements. The third element in Wis. JI–Criminal 2040 contains two separate requirements that the State must satisfy.

story has, however, virtually no application when the point at issue is the defendant's legal status, dependent on some judgment rendered wholly independently of the concrete events of later criminal behavior charged against him." *Old Chief*, 519 U.S. at 190.

In *Alexander*, the defendant attempted to stipulate that he had a certain number of prior convictions, suspensions or revocations for the purposes of counting prior offenses for reckless and drunk driving offenses. Instead, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by admitting evidence of the prior offenses. *Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d at 633-34, 639-40. This was error. *Id.* at 634. According to the Wisconsin Supreme Court, the fact that a status element is completely dependent on some judgment rendered wholly independently of the current charges means: "Accordingly, *there is no probative value* to this evidence other than to prove the defendant's status. Evidence of the status element is wholly independent of the concrete events that make up the gravamen of the offense." *Id.* at 45 (emphasis added)

When a defendant stipulates to a status element, the circuit court must bind the State to accept it. *McAllister*, 153 Wis. 2d 523, 529, 451 N.W.2d 764 (Ct. App. 1989); *State v. Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d at 644. In *McAllister*, this court cited *United States v. O'Shea*, 724 F.2d 1514, 1516 (11th Cir. 1984) for the rule that "where a prior conviction is part of an

offense and the defendant offers to stipulate to the prior conviction, it may constitute an abuse of discretion to allow the nature of the offense to be admitted." *McAllister* at 529. It was error to admit evidence that McAllister had been convicted of robbery where he had offered to stipulate that he had been convicted of a felony at his trial for felon in possession of a firearm. *Id.* at 525.

With the exception of the requirement that Mr. Lorentz "avoid the residence" of his former wife and his sons, the injunctions were not relevant to any element before the jury and therefore they were not admissible. "Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Wis. Stat. § 904.01. Furthermore, "Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible." Wis. Stat. §904.02 (emphasis added). Finally, "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Wis. Stat. §904.03.

Additionally, before the court may admit evidence of prior bad acts it must first determine that the evidence is relevant to an issue in the case. *State v. Roberson*, 157 Wis.

2d 447, 453, 459 N.W.2d 611 (Ct. App. 1990). From there, the court must determine if the evidence is admissible pursuant to one of the exceptions in Wis. Stat. §904.04(2). If it is admissible, then the court must determine whether any prejudice from the evidence outweighs the probative value. *Id.* 

In this case, the court has found that the words "domestic abuse" and "child abuse" listed in the injunctions are not relevant. They therefore have no probative value and should not have been admitted. Furthermore, the prejudice is extreme. In Whitty v. State, the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that "evidence against an accused should be confined to the very offense charged, and neither bad character nor commission of other specific disconnected acts, whether criminal or merely meretricious, could be proved against him." Whitty v. State, 34 Wis. 2d 278, 292-93, 149 Wis. 2d 557 (1967). Character evidence is not admissible because such evidence "is not legally or logically relevant to the crime charged." Id. at 291. For this reason, "Evidence of prior crimes or occurrences should be used sparingly by the prosecution and only when reasonably necessary." Id. at 297. In this case, the evidence of prior bad acts was not relevant or necessary. It was entirely prejudicial and therefore admission of that evidence was error.

The trial court's analysis of the facts and the law was correct up to the point that it published the injunctions to the jury. The court was correct when it ruled evidence of "domestic abuse" and "child abuse" to be inadmissible. Whether Mr. Lorentz had committed domestic abuse or child abuse in the past was not relevant to any of the elements before the jury. The issues before the jury did not call upon the jury to determine either (1) whether Mr. Lorentz' past conduct made any significant fact more or less relevant, and (2) whether Mr. Lorentz is any type of "abuser."

Additionally, the trial court properly concluded that the injunctions themselves were not relevant and were prejudicial. According to the court, "I don't think it's appropriate even though those injunctions are going to be evidence, I don't believe it's appropriate either in the arguments or actually in the instructions either to actually refer to them as domestic abuse injunctions or child abuse injunctions." (53:79)

Having properly found that evidence of "Child Abuse" and "Domestic Abuse" was irrelevant and prejudicial, it was a misuse of discretion to publish the full injunctions titled "Injunction-Domestic Abuse" and "Injunction-Child Abuse" to the jury. The decision to publish the injunctions to the jury was not a reasonable result and created extreme prejudice to

Mr. Lorentz. The publication was far more prejudicial than probative.

In addition, the court's decision to publish the injunctions to the jury was not reasonable or fair because the court's reason for doing so does not apply in this case. The court published the injunctions saying: "My rationale is these are the injunctions that are in effect and binding the parties. That's what they look like." (53:129) In this case "fairness" did not require publication of the injunctions to the jury so that the jury could understand "what they look like." The full injunctions were not needed to correct an unfair and misleading impression created by the relevant information from the injunctions that Mr. Lorentz was under court order to "avoid the residence" of his former wife and his three sons. There is nothing unfair about the terms of the restrictions placed on Mr. Lorentz. On the contrary, admission of the full injunctions was unfair because the injunctions introduced inflammatory and irrelevant information regarding abuse.

As beneficiary of the error allowing improper and prejudicial information into evidence, the State has the burden to prove that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985). The State must carry this burden beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Jorgenson*, 2008 WI 60, ¶23, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77 (Reversal

ordered as a result of admission of other acts, the transcript being read to the jury where transcrit contained inadmissible evidence, and the State's improper closing argument). Given the facts of this case and the court's own finding that the words "domestic abuse" and "child abuse" were so prejudicial that they must be excluded, the State cannot carry its heavy burden to prove that the conviciton would have occurred without publishing the injunctions to the jury.

Since the evidence of domestic abuse and child abuse violates multiple rules of admissibility, and since it is very prejudicial, this court must reverse.

## II. Wisconsin Stats. §§813.12 and 813.122 are unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Lorentz.

Because the phrase "avoid the residence" is both vague and overbroad, Wis. Stats. §§813.12 and 813.122 are unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Lorentz. The statutes as applied failed to provide him adequate notice of the behavior that was prohibited.

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