# RECEIVED

12-03-2018

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2018AP1515-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL K. LORENTZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

### ON APPEAL OF A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE PIERCE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH D. BOLES, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SEAN E. FROELICH District Attorney State Bar No. 1084551

Pierce County Courthouse 414 W. Main Street P.O. Box 808 Ellsworth, WI Pierce County (715) 273-6750

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Once Mr. Lorentz stipulated to the injunctions, did the circuit court err in publishing the unredacted injunctions to the jury?

The trial court ruled that the words that appeared on the injunctions "Domestic Abuse/Child Abuse" were inadmissible, but published the injunctions with a cautionary instruction, telling the jury to not consider the words.

2. As applied to Mr. Lorentz, were Wisconsin Statutes §§ 813.12 and 813.122 unconstitutional in failing to provide him with notice of the prohibited conduct? The circuit court answered "no" in denying Mr. Lorentz's pretrial motion.

3. Was sufficient evidence produced at trial to prove that Mr. Lorentz's conduct failed to "avoid the residence" of his former spouse in driving on a public roadway standing between the house and fields on either side of an extended driveway?

The jury found Mr. Lorentz guilty on all counts and the court denied Mr. Lorentz's motion for a directed verdict.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The parties' briefs will adequately address the issue presented, and oral argument will not significantly assist the court in deciding this appeal.

The State does not take a position on publication of this Court's decision and opinion.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As plaintiff-respondent, the State exercises its discretion to not present a statement of the case. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. The State cites to relevant facts in the Argument section below.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. ONCE MR. LORENTZ STIPULATED TO THE INJUNCTIONS, THE COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT PUBLISHED THEM TO THE JURY AS THEY WERE NOT PREJUDICIAL AND THEY WERE RELEVANT.

Mr. Lorentz argues the court erred when it published unredacted copies to the jury under theories of prejudice and lack of relevance given the stipulations of the defense.

In his brief, Mr. Lorentz classifies the first element in the injunction as a status element. The State disagrees, as status offenses relate to traffic offenses and juvenile cases based on the State's research.

Mr. Lorentz's application of *State v. Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 517 N.W. 2d 662 (1997) is misplaced. That case is an operating while intoxicated case with prior offenses, which are status offenses. Alexander argued that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by submitting to the jury the element that he had two or more prior convictions, revocations or suspensions. *Id.* at 640.

Mr. Lorentz writes in his brief that the circuit court erred in *Alexander*. (App. Br. at 15.) However, he fails to point out that it was harmless error. "However, because of the overwhelming nature of the evidence as to the defendant's guilt in this case, we also conclude that the error was harmless. Accordingly, we affirm." *State v. Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 634, 571 N.W.2d 662, 665, 1997 WL 775598 (1997).

In his brief, Mr. Lorentz again falls short by attempting to correlate his circumstances with a felony offense case by citing to *State v. McAllister*, 153 Wis. 2d 523, 451 N.W.2d 764, 1989 WL 180612 (Ct. App. 1989). In *McAllister*, the state refused to accept the defendant's stipulation that he was a convicted felon in the prosecution of felon in possession of a firearm. *Id.* at 526. Over the defendant's objection, the trial court allowed the state to introduce evidence that McAllister's prior felony was a robbery conviction. *Id.* 

The trial court ruled that it could not compel the state to accept McAllister's stipulation. As a general proposition, "a party is not required to accept a judicial admission of his adversary, but may insist on proving the fact." *United States v. Allen,* 798 F.2d 985, 1001 (7th Cir.1986), (quoting *Parr v. United States,* 255 F.2d 86, 89 (5th Cir.), *cert. denied,* 358 U.S. 824, 79 S.Ct. 40, 3 L.Ed.2d 64 (1958)). The principle is that "[a] cold stipulation can deprive a party 'of the legitimate moral force of his evidence,' 9 *Wigmore on Evidence,* sec. 2591 at 589 [ (3rd ed. 1940) ], and can never fully substitute for tangible, physical evidence or the testimony of witnesses." *Allen,* 798 F.2d at 1001 (quoting *United States v. Grassi,* 602 F.2d 1192, 1197 (5th Cir.1979), *vacated on other* 

*grounds*, 448 U.S. 902, 100 S.Ct. 3041, 65 L.Ed.2d 1131 (1980)). We have found no Wisconsin case in point.

*Id.* at 527.

The *McAllister* Court concluded the admission of robbery conviction was harmless error. *Id.* at 769. Mr. Lorentz attempts to draw a comparison between the above cases and his case which are completely incongruous.

Additionally, Mr. Lorentz argues "extreme" prejudice while citing to *Whitty v. State*, 34 Wis. 2d 278, 149 N.W. 2d 557 (1967). "Evidence against an accused should be confined to the very offense charged..." *Id.* at 292. There was no unfair prejudice cast on Mr. Lorentz. Mr. Lorentz uses inflammatory language citing "extreme" prejudice. (App. Br. at 18-19.) Mr. Lorentz was charged based on the allegations in the criminal complaint. The simple language that entitled the charge and injunction bear a resemblance. There is no pretext or prior offense language that is extreme. It is what it purports to be.

Mr. Lorentz was charged with four counts:

# Count 1: KNOWINGLY VIOLATE A DOMESTIC ABUSE INJUNCTION

Count 2: KNOWINGLY VIOLATE CHILD ABUSE INJUNCTION

Count 3: KNOWINGLY VIOLATE CHILD ABUSE INJUNCTION

# Count 4: KNOWINGLY VIOLATE CHILD ABUSE INJUNCTION

The words "Injunction-Child Abuse" and "Injunction-Domestic Abuse" are relevant as they describe the legal documents. This important background information educates the jury. The words directly correlate to the offenses charged. The evidentiary value could not be more probative. *See* Wis. Stat. § 904.01. The trial court disagreed however. The trial court reflected, "I don't think it's appropriate even though those injunctions are going to be evidence, I don't believe it's appropriate either in the arguments or actually in the instructions either to actually refer to them as domestic abuse injunctions or child abuse injunctions." (R. 53:79.)

According to the State, "but that is what they are, Your Honor. They are injunctions of domestic abuse and child abuse. The State certainly won't utter the words, but that's certainly what they are...I think the jury should be permitted to know exactly what they are because all the jury is going to know is there is an injunction. But why are these injunctions important? It's an injunction." (R. 53:13.)

In responding the trial court stated, "I think that it's a danger of unfair prejudice. I don't see that. I see this as a combination of context and background that is important, but without undue emphasis on it. I think that's where I think this is balanced that way. I think the documents themselves are admissible as they are because they are court orders. That whole thing is a court order. I do think it's appropriate to put those in. I'll give a curative instruction." (Id.)

The trial court offered the following cautionary instruction: "These injunctions have some titles that contain language you are not to consider. In reviewing these, look at the orders themselves from the Court. There is a stipulation that even though those on their face expired in July of 2016, they were extended and were in effect on the date of this incident. These were the actual court orders in effect at the time of the incident. I want you to disregard any of the labels on the top of these documents that might label them as a certain type of injunction. You cannot use them as evidence." (R. 53:130.)

After this instruction was read the State published to the jury the injunctions bearing the words "domestic abuse" and "child abuse." (<u>Id.</u>)

The evidence produced at trial did not emphasize the printed words "domestic abuse" and "child abuse" on the

injunctions that the jury observed at one point during the fullday of trial. The words themselves were never spoken by the State in the presence of the jury during the trial or in opening/closing statements. The jury was specifically instructed by the trial court to disregard the words and not to use them as evidence.

Mr. Lorentz's conclusions that the words that title the injunctions are character evidence or evidence of prior bad acts is unsupported. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 813.12(4)(a), "A judge or circuit court commissioner may grant an injunction ordering the respondent to refrain from committing acts of domestic abuse against the petitioner, to avoid the petitioner's residence, except as provided in par. (am), or any other location temporarily occupied by the petitioner or both, or to avoid contacting or causing any person other than a party's attorney or a law enforcement officer to contact the petitioner unless the petitioner consents to that contact in writing, to refrain from removing, hiding, damaging, harming, or mistreating, or disposing of, a household pet, to allow the petitioner or a family member or household member of the petitioner acting on his or her behalf to retrieve a household pet, or any combination of these remedies requested in the petition, or any other appropriate remedy not inconsistent with the remedies requested in the petition."

The purpose of an injunction as identified within this statute is to order the respondent to refrain from committing acts of domestic abuse against the petitioner. Nowhere in this statute does it suggest that prior bad acts had to occur in order to obtain an injunction, but rather, the statute is aimed to prevent bad acts. Furthermore, Wisconsin Statute § 813.12(5)(a)(3) outlines the requirements necessary for an injunction, and while this section requires sufficient facts that the respondent engaged in domestic abuse of the petitioner, it also allows for an issuance of an injunction when based on prior conduct of the petitioner.

There was no character evidence admissible at trial that prior bad acts had occurred between Mr. Lorentz and the

petitioner. The documents, therefore, were not prejudicial because there was nothing admissible at trial that would suggest prior bad acts had occurred to support an order for an injunction. As previously stated, the injunction documents themselves were relevant because the charges being tried to the jury surrounded a violation of these injunction documents.

In the alternative, if it was error for the trial court to allow the State to publish the unredacted injunctions, it was harmless. Under harmless error the test is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis.2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222, 232 (1985).

We conclude that, in view of the gradual merger of this court's collective thinking in respect to harmless versus prejudicial error, whether of omission or commission, whether of constitutional proportions<sup>10</sup> or not, the test should be whether \*\*232 there is a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. If it did, reversal and a new trial must result. The burden of proving no prejudice is on the beneficiary of the error, here the state. *Billings*, 110 Wis.2d at 667, 329 N.W.2d 192. The state's burden, then, is to establish that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction.

*State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222, 231–32 (1985).

Mr. Lorentz was charged with violating a term of the injunctions. The words "domestic-abuse/child-abuse" were never spoken during the presence of the jury by the State and the court provided a cautionary instruction. Specifically the court cautioned, "I want you to disregard any of the labels on the top of these documents that might label them as a certain type of injunction. You cannot use them as evidence." (R. 53:130.) More importantly, the evidence at trial was compelling.

Officer Langer was asked at trial what Mr. Lorentz said what he was doing in the area, Mr. Lorentz informed the officer, "he was driving by the residence hoping to see his children briefly." (R. 53:137.) Mr. Lorentz's former wife testified the driver's side door was facing and the truck drove by "very, very slowly." (R. 53: 126.) She also testified at that time Mr. Lorentz was living in Iowa. (R. 53:131.) Officer Langer testified he believed Mr. Lorentz told the officer he was working in Red Wing at the time. (R. 53:138.) At trial, the officer testified that Mr. Lorentz confirmed he knew about the restraining orders but Mr. Lorentz indicated to the officer that Mr. Lorentz did not believe he violated them because he was on a public roadway. (Id.)

"We hold that once the jury has been properly instructed on the principles it must apply to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, a court must assume on appeal that the jury has abided by those instructions." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752, 758 (1990).

#### B. AS APPLIED TO MR. LORENTZ, WISCONSIN STATUTES §§ 813.12 AND 813.122 ARE CONSTITUTIONAL.

Under Wisconsin Statutes §§ 813.12 and 813.122 Mr. Lorentz claims the phrase "avoid the residence" is "vague" and "overbroad" and therefore unconstitutional as applied to him.

Mr. Lorentz relies on a hyper-technical rather than a common-sense reading of the injunctions, which includes his interpretation of the word "avoid." The word "avoid" is not mysterious or ambiguous. Mr. Lorentz's reference to the New Oxford Dictionary, online, defines "avoid" as "Keep away from" or "Contrive not to meet someone." (App. Br. at 24.)

Mr. Lorentz's argument is eclipsed by his conduct. The petitioner's residence is identified by a fire number and 390<sup>th</sup> Avenue. (R. 53:122.) Mr. Lorentz drove down public road 390<sup>th</sup> Avenue in the hopes of seeing his children. (R. 53:137.) Mr. Lorentz intentionally drove down 390<sup>th</sup> Avenue with a specific purpose. Mr. Lorentz did the opposite of avoid the residence, he drove right toward it for the purpose of trying to see his children that day. If anything, Mr. Lorentz had to know where the residence was so he knew where to travel to so he

could have the opportunity to get a possible view of his children. Why else was Mr. Lorentz driving on 390<sup>th</sup> Avenue when he lives in Iowa and was doing some work in Red Wing [Minnesota]?

Mr. Lorentz raises a new issue by arguing that the statute as applied interfered with his fundamental right to travel. (App. Br. 25). The State will not address a new issue argued for the first time on appeal. *See State v. Caban*, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997) (issues not presented at the trial court level generally will not be heard for the first time on appeal).

#### C. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS PRODUCED AT TRIAL TO ESTABLISH THAT MR. LORENTZ VIOLATED THE INJUNCTIONS' REQUIREMENT THAT HE AVOID THE RESIDENCE.

Mr. Lorentz was well aware of the location of his former wife's residence. The former wife's residence is identified by a fire number and 390<sup>th</sup> Avenue. (R. 53:122.) At trial, Officer Kellen Langer was questioned regarding what information Mr. Lorentz provided to the officer regarding the complaint. (R. 53:136.) The officer testified that Mr. Lorentz told the officer that Mr. Lorentz drove by the residence. (<u>Id.</u>) The officer was asked if [Mr. Lorentz] indicated for what purpose. (<u>Id.</u>) The officer replied, "[Lorentz] stated he hadn't seen his children in several years, and he missed them." (R. 53:137.)

When Officer Kellen Langer was asked at trial as to what Mr. Lorentz said as to what he was doing in the area, Mr. Lorentz told the officer, "he was driving by the residence hoping to see his children briefly." (Id.) Officer Kellen Langer testified that he believed the speed limit on 390<sup>th</sup> Avenue is 55 [miles per hour]. (Id.) Officer Langer also testified that the manner in which Mr. Lorentz self-described [Lorentz] drove by was "slowly." (Id.)

It was Mother's Day, May 14, 2017, and the petitioner returned home from church with her boys. (R. 53:124.) The petitioner and her children, J.L., Z.L., B.L., and L.L. were all

outside. (R. 53:125.) The injunctions in place were for the petitioner, Z.L., B.L., and L.L. (R. 53:130.) At trial the petitioner testified, "[t]hen I think one of the boys saw that there was a black truck coming down the road, and they said, that looks like papa. Everyone was like, is that papa? That's papa. So then I became alarmed and wondered what was going on." (R. 53:125.) The petitioner testified that the driver's side door was facing and the truck drove by "very, very slowly." (R. 53:126.)

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